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Hon. Kim R. Gibson


BRIEF IN OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT (DOC. 50) AND IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT (DOC. 44)
I. Introduction
The undisputed record evidence in this case demonstrates that Defendants plainly have violated Ms. Brooker’s clearly established rights under the U.S. Housing Act of 1937, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1437 et seq., and its implementing regulations; the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 3601 et seq., and its implementing regulations (FHA); Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. 12131 et seq., and its implementing regulations (ADA); Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794, and its implementing regulations (§504) and the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.  There is no genuine issue for trial, and Plaintiff Josephine Brooker is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.      
There are no genuine disputes of fact material to whether Ms. Brooker was “evicted from federally assisted housing” within the meaning of applicable regulations and AHA’s policy.  Each party claims to be entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  Plaintiff argues that she is entitled to judgment because she was never evicted.  Defendants argue that she was evicted the moment they notified her that they intended to terminate her participation in the public housing program and would pursue an eviction action if she did not surrender possession within thirty days.  Defendants are wrong on the law, and Plaintiff should prevail on this claim.

There are no genuine disputes of fact material to whether, under the circumstances in this case, Defendants’ violated Ms. Brooker’s rights under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment by failing to meaningfully notify her of her right to request a reasonable accommodation in order to prevent the erroneous deprivation of her constitutionally protected property interests.  Ms. Brooker is entitled to judgment on this claim as a matter of law.  
There are no genuine issues of fact material to whether Defendants have unlawfully failed to reasonably change or modify their rules, policies or practices in this case, or to otherwise reasonably accommodate Ms. Brooker, in order to enable her continued participation in federally assisted housing despite the limitations of her mental impairments.  Defendants admit that Ms. Brooker is disabled and thereby protected by the antidiscrimination provisions of the FHA, ADA and 504.  They argue, however, that they are entitled to judgment on these claims because Ms. Brooker either never requested a reasonable accommodation or has not shown a nexus between her impairments and the need for an accommodation.  The “evidence” cited by Defendants to support this is insufficient for a jury to return a verdict in their favor on these claims.  Otherwise, Defendants argue that various facts are in dispute.  To the contrary, Defendants have not demonstrated a singe genuine issue of fact that is material to these claims, and Ms. Brooker is entitled to judgment on them.  
Defendants by their actions and omissions have violated Ms. Brooker’s rights under the law, and they knew this as they acted or failed to act.  There are no genuine issues for trial, and Ms. Brooker is entitled to judgment on the merits of her claims.

II. Scope and Standard of Review

The scope and standards to be applied by the Court in resolving the parties’ motions for summary judgment are set forth in Plaintiff’s brief in support of her motion at Document 45, pp. 2-3.    



III. Brief Statement of Undisputed Material Facts
Please see Plaintiff’s Concise Statement of Undisputed Material Facts (Document 46) and Plaintiff’s Response to Defendant’s Concise Statement of Facts, which is being filed along with this brief.  Plaintiff included complete transcripts of the depositions conducted in this case, filed at Documents 47-1 through 47-9, and review of these may assist the Court in fully ascertaining the facts material to the claims in this case.  Please see, particularly, the depositions of Executive Director Cheryl Johns (Document 47-2), Public Housing Administrator Linda Holsinger (Document 47-3) and Section 8 Coordinator Linda Walter (Document 47-4), all policymakers.  The admissions of fact contained in these depositions establish that there are no genuine issues for trial, that Ms. Brooker is entitled to judgment as a matter of law and that she is entitled to punitive damages against both the Authority and Defendants Johns and Walter.
  Attached hereto as Exhibit 3 is the Reasonable Accommodation Resource Guide referenced and discussed in each of these depositions as “Exhibit P-1.” 
IV. Violation of U.S. Housing Act and Implementing Regulations

Defendants’ argument that “Ms. Brooker was evicted from federally assisted housing on May 20, 2010” (Document 51, p. 8) when Defendants posted a notice on her door of their intent to terminate her public housing benefits within ten days and initiate an eviction proceeding if she did not voluntarily surrender possession of her apartment within thirty days is flatly contrary to the applicable law.  
As set forth in Plaintiff’s brief in support of summary judgment (Document 45, pp. 11-14), an eviction within the meaning of 24 CFR §§ 982.552(c)(1)(ii) may not be accomplished by administrative action alone.  In Pennsylvania, public housing agencies “may evict the tenant from the unit” only “by bringing a court action.”  24 CFR § 966.4(l)(4)(i).  Unlike in the Nebraska case cited by Defendants at Document 51, pp. 10-11 (Banks v. Housing Authority of the City of Omaha, 795 N.W.2d 632 (Neb. 2011)), where the Omaha Housing Authority brought a court action to evict the plaintiff, no court action was ever even initiated to evict Ms. Brooker.  Therefore she cannot be said to have been “evicted from federally assisted housing” within the meaning of 24 CFR §§ 982.552(c)(1)(ii) and 966.4(l)(4)(i).  
Defendants’ legal argument that Ms. Brooker was “evicted from federally assisted housing” because a court eviction action in Pennsylvania is initiated by “the filing of a Notice to Quit” (Document 51, p. 9) is a misstatement of the applicable law.  Service of a notice to quit containing the elements enunciated at 68 P.S. § 250.501 is required before an eviction proceeding may be initiated by the landlord; service of a notice to quit is a jurisdictional prerequisite to the initiation of an eviction action.  E.g. Williams v. Kusnair’s Bar and Tavern, 288 F. Appz 847, 849-850 (3d. Cir. 2008) (noting that a landlord must serve the tenant with a notice to quit “before commencing eviction proceedings.”); Allegheny Housing Rehabilitation Corp. v. Wilson, 17 Pa. D. & C.4th 513, 514 (Pa.Com.Pl. 1992) (“[T]he case law hold[s] that a landlord may not commence an action for possession until the notice to vacate has been given in accordance with the requirements of the Landlord and Tenant Act.”) (internal citations omitted); Fulton Terrace Ltd. Partnership v. Riley, 4 Pa. D. & C.4th 149, 154 (Pa.Com.Pl. 1989) (“The available case law on this subject provides that the notice to quit required by section 250.501 is jurisdictional and in the absence of strict compliance with the provisions of the above section, the district justice would not have authority to enter judgment for the landlord.”) (internal citations omitted).  Defendants knew this.  Document 47-2, Johns depo. 147:5-148:21.
Moreover, the Nebraska Supreme Court’s reasoning cited by Defendants—that Congress and HUD did not intend to allow public housing tenants to “avoid the consequences of [their] own behavior by willfully failing to comply with the terms of a lease; refusing to vacate and surrender the premises, forcing the housing authority to take legal action; vacating the premises prior to a court hearing and then arguing that he was entitled to continue to receive housing assistance because there was no court order evicting him”—in no way supports Defendants’ position in this case.
  Banks v. Housing Authority of the City of Omaha, 795 N.W.2d at 633-634.  To the contrary, this reasoning supports Ms. Brooker’s position.  Unlike Mr. Banks, Ms. Brooker did not force AHA to take legal action to evict her.  AHA never took legal action to evict her.  Unlike Mr. Banks, who admitted that he intentionally assaulted and robbed another tenant, the behavior for which Ms. Brooker was allegedly “evicted” was not at all willful, nor even volitional.  Ms. Brooker’s behavior resulted from a psychiatric condition.  Ms. Brooker explained this in her written request for an informal hearing (Document 47-22) and asked Defendants to consider this, but Defendants refused to entertain any discussion of the issue when she attempted to raise this at the hearing and request that Defendants reasonably accommodate her by modifying their policy under the circumstances.  Defendants’ CSMF, Document 52, p. 19, ¶ 50.  This was contrary to the intent of Congress and HUD.  See 24 CFR §§ 982.204(c)(2) and 24 CFR § 982.552(c)(2)(iv); see also, e.g., Gray v. Allegheny County Housing Authority, 8 A.3d 925 (Pa.Cmwlth. 2010).  Defendants knew this.  Document 47-2, Johns depo. 143:7-147:4.   
Furthermore, Congress and HUD certainly did intend to permit Ms. Brooker to avoid the consequences that Defendants have imposed on her for her behavior of May 20, 2011, by requiring Defendants to modify their policies under the circumstances. 

V. Disability Rights Statutes

Defendants’ persistent refusal in this case to reasonably modify their policies/practices or to other grant a reasonable accommodation to Ms. Brooker, or even to consider or discuss with her whether a reasonable accommodation may be necessary to permit her continued participation in an assisted housing program, has violated Ms. Brooker’s clearly established rights under the FHA, §504, Title II of the ADA and regulations implementing these Acts.  The legal standards for determining these claims are set forth in Plaintiff’s brief in support of her motion for summary judgment at Document 45, pp. 14-19.
Defendants attempt to avoid this inevitable conclusion, and thereby avoid summary judgment, by proffering three basic arguments: 1) that Defendants neither knew nor reasonably should be expected to have known of Ms. Brooker’s disabilities, 2) that Ms. Brooker never actually requested a reasonable accommodation and 3) in the alternative, that accommodation of Ms. Brooker’s disabilities was neither necessary to afford her an opportunity to participate in the federally assisted housing programs administered by Defendants nor reasonable.  Not one of these arguments is supported by evidence sufficient for a jury to return a verdict in favor of Defendants.  There are no genuine issues for trial, and Ms. Brooker is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.
A. Ms. Brooker is disabled within the meaning of the FHA, ADA and §504.

As set forth in her main brief (Document 45, pp. 19-20), Ms. Brooker is disabled within the meaning of the FHA, ADA and §504.  See also “Joint Statement of the Department of Housing and Urban Development and the Department of Justice: Reasonable Accommodations under the Fair Housing Act” (“HUD/DOJ Joint Statement”), p. 13, Question 18 and n. 10, attached hereto as Exhibit 1.
  Defendants agree.  Document 52, ¶¶ 105, 106 and Document 51, p. 18 (“Ms. Brooker…is deemed to be a [person with a] disability for purposes of this motion.”).  
Josephine Brooker has lived with chronic depression and related mental impairments her entire adult life, struggling through periods of major depression and anxiety, for nearly 50 years now, and mostly successfully.  She provided for and raised a daughter, who now has raised children of her own.  She worked, managing a career until she was no longer able to work due to the limiting effects of her mental impairments.
  

After the death of her mother, Ms. Brooker’s ability to successfully cope with the effects of her mental impairments deteriorated.  When the Social Security Administration determined Ms. Brooker no longer able to work due to the limiting effects of her mental impairments, she had been diagnosed with Early Onset Dysthemia (chronic depression) with periods of Major Depression, Generalized Anxiety Disorder and Personality Disorder with Dependant Traits.  The Administrative Law Judge who adjudicated her case described how these impairments limited Ms. Brooker’s major life activities.  See SSA Decision, Findings of Fact 2 and 4, Document 53-1, pp. 7-9 of 12.  

From 2007 through present, Ms. Brooker has received ongoing treatment for her mental impairments from her primary care physician and from Altoona Behavioral Health.  Her treatment with Altoona Behavioral Health included periodic appointments with Betsy Kline, her treating certified registered nurse practitioner, for counseling, behavioral monitoring, and medication maintenance.  Over this period Ms. Brooker was prescribed numerous medications to treat symptoms of her mental impairments, including antipsychotics and antidepressants.  She did relatively well with treatment but experienced periodic symptoms, like anhedonia, fatigue, trouble sleeping, trouble eating and anxiety.    

In early March of 2010, Stephanie Scheeler took the place of Betsy Kline as Ms. Brooker’s treating CRNP.  Shortly before this time, Altoona Behavioral Health split from the hospital of which it was a part, and many of Ms. Brooker’s records went with the hospital after the split.  Consequently, many of Ms. Brooker’s records and the treatment history contained therein were unavailable to Ms. Scheeler when she took over as Ms. Brooker’s treating CRNP.  Ms. Scheeler also did not know of the prior diagnoses reflected in the SSA determination.    

At their first meeting Ms. Scheeler did an initial intake screening of Ms. Brooker to establish a working diagnosis (or diagnoses) for continuing her care, which included speaking with her about her understanding of her impairments and history of treatment, evaluating her mood, affect and other “presentation,” reviewing available records and performing standard diagnostic testing.  The working diagnosis Ms. Scheeler determined following this screening was Major Depressive Disorder, Recurrent Episode Moderate.  This initial appointment in March of 2010 was the only time Ms. Scheeler had interacted with Ms. Brooker prior to the May 20, 2010 incident.  

Immediately following the incident at the Towers, Ms. Brooker was hospitalized for inpatient psychiatric treatment for thirteen (13) days.
  She was admitted on Thursday, May 20, 2010 and discharged on Wednesday, June 2, 2010.  Id.  Ms. Scheeler did not treat Ms. Brooker during her inpatient treatment, as Ms. Brooker was assigned to the caseload of another.  The initial working diagnosis of the physician who treated Ms. Brooker while in the hospital was Bipolar Disorder, Manic, with Psychosis.  At the time of her discharge from the hospital, the Psychosis diagnosis was modified by the treating physician to Psychosis NOS (not otherwise specified), as inpatient treatment had revealed an elevated level of bacteria in her urine, indicating the possibility of a urinary tract infection, which could have played a contributing role in the psychosis.  The working diagnoses from which Ms. Scheeler treated Ms. Brooker continued to evolve with ongoing interaction and response to treatment through 2010 and 2011 to include Anxiety Disorder in 2011.    

As Ms. Scheeler explained in her deposition testimony, working diagnoses, upon which ongoing treatment is based, often evolve over time as greater interaction and experience with the patient and the patient’s responses to treatment progress.  Diagnoses which enter the chart remain on the chart until ruled out.  As of January of 2011, Ms. Brooker’s chart carried the diagnosis of Major Depression, Recurrent, previously with Psychosis (296.32) and continued to carry the Psychotic Disorder NOS diagnosis, because the latter had not yet been ruled out.  Ms. Scheeler further testified, however, that she had reached the conclusion—based on her the ongong interaction with Ms. Brooker, the perspective she had gained of Ms. Brooker’s history, and her treatment progress over time—that the latter diagnosis should be removed from the chart.  In her opinion, the psychosis that Ms. Brooker experienced leading up to the events on May 20, 2010 were caused by her mental impairments.  She could not rule out that a urinary tract infection may have contributed to this, but she concluded that the psychosis had an underlying causal nexus with Ms. Brooker’s long-standing mental impairments.  Scheeler Deposition 5:19-6:11, 8:25-9:2, 74:17-75:1, 123:15-124:8 (Document 47-9).
  
B. There is no genuine dispute that Defendants knew of Ms. Brooker’s disability.

As set forth in Plaintiff’s brief in support of her motion for summary judgment, Defendants knew or reasonably should be expected to have known of Ms. Brooker’s disability.  Document 45, p. 20.  There is no genuine dispute about this.  Defendants admit that they knew Ms. Brooker was disabled.  Document 51, p. 12, n. 6.  That is all that is necessary for Plaintiff to establish this element of her prima facia claims.  E.g. HUD/DOJ Joint Statement, Question 18, pp. 13-14, attached hereto as Exhibit 1.  
Defendants nevertheless argue in their brief that 1) they did not actually know the nature of Ms. Brooker’s disability and 2) they cannot reasonably be expected to have known that Ms. Brooker “had a disability that would require a reasonable accommodation.”  Document 51, pp. 13-14.  These arguments, and the allegations on which they are based, are misplaced; they may be relevant to whether an accommodation may have been necessary to afford Ms. Brooker an equal opportunity to participate in a federally assisted housing program; but they are not relevant to whether Defendants knew or reasonably should have known of Ms. Brooker’s disability.  This notwithstanding, the arguments are not supported by evidence sufficient for a jury to render a verdict in favor of Defendants.  Defendants were informed of the nature of Ms. Brooker’s impairments and the need for a reasonable accommodation by Ms. Brooker, her daughter, her psychiatric care provider and both of her undersigned counsel, and based upon what Defendants already knew of Ms. Brooker’s disability and what they witnessed of it on May 20, 2010, they should have known the nature of her disability.  See Plaintiffs CSMF and Responsive CSMF ¶¶ 2, 11, 16, 23-24, 27-29, 32, 33, 42-45, 48-49, 53-55, 97, 108-109, 111, 123, 125, 146-147; see also Exhibit 2 attached hereto Document 47-9 (Scheeler deposition).  It was obvious.  Given that Defendants terminated her participation in the public housing program and denied her application for rental assistance under the Section 8 Voucher program because of what they witnessed on May 20, 2010, the need for an accommodation to modify the policies pursuant to which these actions were taken was also obvious.  “If a person’s disability is obvious, or otherwise known to the provider, and if the need for the requested accommodation is also readily apparent or known, then the provider may not request any additional information about the requester's disability or the disability-related need for the accommodation.”  HUD/DOJ Joint Statement, Question 17, p. 13, attached hereto as Exhibit 1. 
C. There is no genuine dispute that a reasonable accommodation may be necessary to afford Ms. Brooker an equal opportunity to participate in a federal housing assistance program administered Defendants.

A reasonable accommodation is in fact necessary.  Defendants, pursuant to policy, terminated Ms. Brooker’s participation in public housing and denied her participation in the Section 8 program due to behavior caused by her disability.  Without a modification to the implementation of these policies against Ms. Brooker, she has been deprived of an equal opportunity to participate in these programs.  

Defendants argue that there is no evidence demonstrating a nexus between Ms. Brooker’s impairments and the need for an accommodation.  To the contrary, the undisputed facts clearly demonstrate the required nexus.  
“To show that a requested accommodation may be necessary, there must be an identifiable relationship, or nexus, between the requested accommodation and the individual’s disability.”  HUD/DOJ Joint Statement, Question 6, p. 6, attached hereto as Exhibit 1; accord Lapid-Laurel, L.L.C. v. Zoning Bd. of Adjustment of Tp. of Scotch Plains, 284 F.3d 442, 459 (3d. Cir. 2002) (“[W]e have not previously addressed the ‘necessity’ and ‘equal opportunity’ factors of a § 3604(f)(3)(B) claim.  The Courts of Appeals that have provided the most discussion of the meaning of these terms in the FHAA are the Sixth and Fourth Circuits.  The key to their analysis is that the plaintiff in an FHAA reasonable accommodations case must establish a nexus between the accommodations that he or she is requesting, and their necessity for providing handicapped individuals an ‘equal opportunity’ to use and enjoy housing.”).
AHA was aware of the nexus between Ms. Brooker’s impairments and the need for an accommodation, as set forth in the previous section of this brief.  On the day of the incident, Debrah Sills stated this nexus to AHA when she explained to Stephanie Price, property manager at the 11th Street Towers at that time, that Ms. Brooker had been off of her medications, would be hospitalized for psychiatric treatment and asked AHA to consider this and permit Ms. Brooker to return to her apartment upon discharge from the hospital.  Plaintiff’s CSMF and Response to Defendants CSMF ¶¶ 32, 33, 111, 123; see also Document 47-7, Sills depo. 20:4-15, 21: 18-22:1 and Document 62-5, Price Affidavit, ¶¶ 9 and 10.  Ms. Brooker herself clearly laid out this nexus both when she request that AHA permit her to retain her apartment at 11th Steet towers and when she explained in her written request for an informal hearing that she was not in control of her behavior on May 20, 2010 because she had stopped taking her depression medication and requested that AHA consider this in reevaluating its denial of her application for a Voucher.  Plaintiff’s CSMF and Response to Defendants CSMF ¶¶ 32, 33, 41-43.  Stephanie Scheeler informed AHA of this nexus in her letters to AHA on behalf of Ms. Brooker.  Plaintiff’s CSMF and Responsive CSMF ¶¶ 16, 33, 45.  In her deposition testimony she fully explained the bases, processes and reasoning that support her professional opinion that the psychosis Ms. Brooker experienced leading up to the events on May 20, 2010 had an underlying causal nexus with Ms. Brooker’s long-standing mental impairments.  Plaintiff’s Response to Defendants CSMF ¶ 2; Scheeler Deposition 5:19-6:11, 8:25-9:2, 74:17-75:1, 123:15-124:8 (Document 47-9).
  Ms. Brooker’s counsel also repeatedly have explained this nexus to Defendants when requesting reasonable accommodations on behalf of Ms. Brooker, both before and after the initiation of this suit.  Plaintiff’s CSMF and Responsive CSMF ¶¶ 48-49, 54-55, 137, 143-145.
Furthermore, as set forth in the previous section of this brief, the nexus between Ms. Brooker’s disability and her need for an accommodation was obvious, or should have been obvious, to AHA under the circumstances.  Plaintiff’s CSMF and Response to Defendants CSMF ¶¶ 24, 33.
A provider is entitled to obtain information that is necessary to evaluate if a requested reasonable accommodation may be necessary because of a disability. If a person’s disability is obvious, or otherwise known to the provider, and if the need for the requested accommodation is also readily apparent or known, then the provider may not request any additional information about the requester's disability or the disability-related need for the accommodation. 
If the requester's disability is known or readily apparent to the provider, but the need for the accommodation is not readily apparent or known, the provider may request only information that is necessary to evaluate the disability-related need for the accommodation.
HUD/DOJ Joint Statement, Question 17, p. 13, attached hereto as Exhibit 1.    

Once a housing provider has established that a person meets the Act's definition of disability, the provider's request for documentation should seek only the information that is necessary to evaluate if the reasonable accommodation is needed because of a disability.  Such information must be kept confidential and must not be shared with other persons unless they need the information to make or assess a decision to grant or deny a reasonable accommodation request or unless disclosure is required by law (e.g., a court-issued subpoena requiring disclosure).
Id., Question 18, p. 14, attached hereto as Exhibit 1.  
If AHA had any question or doubt about the nexus between Ms. Brooker’s disability and her need for an accommodation to preserve her opportunity to participate in public housing or Section 8, it was the agency’s responsibility to make inquiry.  Id.  They knew this.  Document 47-2, Johns depo. 148:22-154:25; CSMF and Responsive CSMF 33.  They never did.  Id.  Defendants never even communicated with Ms. Brooker (or those who acted on her behalf) regarding her repeated accommodation requests prior to the filing of this lawsuit, except to tell her that nothing could be done.  Plaintiff’s CSMF and Response to Defendants CSMF ¶¶ 33, 50, 52, 56, 111, 146. 147; see also Document 47-2, Johns depo. 148:22-154:25.  After this litigation was filed Defendants, by their counsel, for the first time communicated with Ms. Brooker’s counsel about her requests, by asking for information regarding the nature of Ms. Brooker’s disability and by asking what sort of accommodation Plaintiff’s counsel believed to be reasonable, to which Plaintiff’s counsel adequately responded.  Document 53-39.  Defendants never again communicated with Ms. Brooker about these things until they served their first set of interrogatories (See Exhibit 2 attached hereto) and request for production of Ms. Brooker’s medical records.  

Defendants’ insistence that Ms. Brooker cannot show the required nexus because she has not shown that the accommodations requested in this case would “ameliorate the effects of her disability” (Document 51, pp. 15, 18-19) is without support sufficient to avoid summary judgment.  The nexus was undisputedly clear, and if AHA questioned this, it should have engaged Ms. Brooker to gather more information in reaching a determination on her requests.  They did not do this because they did not give consideration to her requests (Document 47-2, Johns depo. 171:1-175-20) because it is their policy not to grant reasonable accommodations in cases of perceived danger.  Document 47-2, Johns depo. 78:22-80:12 and 134:3-140:7.  Furthermore, Ms. Brooker’s compliance with ongoing medication and treatment over time, with the assistance she received from professionals and her family in doing so, was effective and in fact did ameliorate the effects of Ms. Brooker’s impairments.  Plaintiff’s CSMF and Responsive CSMF 2, 85-87; Document 47-9, Scheeler depo. 34:7-35:15, 100:9-101:2, 112:10-116:25; Document 47-1, Brooker depo. 83:9-84:15.  Had Defendants timely responded to any of the reasonable accommodation requests made on her behalf, Ms. Brooker could have recovered in the comfort of her own home and without the added burden of having to cope displacement.     

D. There is no genuine dispute that Defendants refused to make a reasonable accommodation.

Defendant refused to make a reasonable accommodation for Ms. Brooker.  There is no genuine dispute about this.  Defendants refused Ms. Brooker’s repeated requests for a reasonable accommodation without discussion, explanation or even response, as set forth above. 
“A provider has an obligation to provide prompt responses to reasonable accommodation requests.  An undue delay in responding to a reasonable accommodation request may be deemed to be a failure to provide a reasonable accommodation.”  HUD/DOJ Joint Statement, Question 15, p. 11, attached hereto as Exhibit 1.  See also, e.g., Douglas v. Kriegsfeld Corp., 884 A.2d 1109 (D.C. 2005) (en banc).  
Defendants posit in their brief that “[t]here is no evidence in the record that Brooker or her various representatives ever made a request for reasonable accommodation request.”  Document 51, pp. 14-15.  This is not supported by any actual evidence.  In fact Director Johns testified that she was aware of requests for reasonable accommodations that were made on behalf of Ms. Brooker.  Document 47-2, Johns depo. 151:1-20, 172:5-17.  The same is true for Ms. Holsinger and Ms. Walter.  Plaintiff’s CSMF and Responsive CSMF ¶ 33.
Defendants argue in support of this position that Ms. Brooker was required to notify them of her need for an accommodation by utilizing AHA formal processes either at the time of her initial applications for federally assisted housing or at the time she completed her annual recertification paperwork while participating in the public housing program.  Id.  Document 51, pp. 14-15.  This argument is incredible.  It is flatly wrong on the law, and Defendants know this, and is blind to the undisputed facts.

In their Joint Statement on Reasonable Accommodations, HUD and DOJ make it crystal clear that:

Under the Act, a resident or an applicant for housing makes a reasonable accommodation request whenever she makes clear to the housing provider that she is requesting an exception, change, or adjustment to a rule, policy, practice, or service because of her disability…. 

An applicant or resident is not entitled to receive a reasonable accommodation unless she requests one. However, the Fair Housing Act does not require that a request be made in a particular manner or at a particular time. A person with a disability need not personally make the reasonable accommodation request; the request can be made by a family member or someone else who is acting on her behalf. An individual making a reasonable accommodation request does not need to mention the Act or use the words "reasonable accommodation." However, the requester must make the request in a manner that a reasonable person would understand to be a request for an exception, change, or adjustment to a rule, policy, practice, or service because of a disability. 

…[A] reasonable accommodation request can be made orally or in writing….  [H]ousing providers must give appropriate consideration to reasonable accommodation requests even if the requester makes the request orally or does not use the provider's preferred forms or procedures for making such requests. 
HUD/DOJ Joint Statement, Question 12, p. 10, attached hereto as Exhibit 1.  See also, e.g., Douglas v. Kriegsfeld Corp., 884 A.2d 1109 (D.C. 2005) (en banc).  “[A] provider may not refuse a request…because the individual making the request did not follow any formal procedures that the provider has adopted.”  HUD/DOJ Joint Statement, Question 13, p. 11.  “A provider has notice that a reasonable accommodation request has been made if a person, her family member, or someone acting on her behalf requests a change, exception, or adjustment to a rule, policy, practice, or service because of a disability, even if the words ‘reasonable accommodation’ are not used as part of the request.”  Id. Question 14, p. 11.  Defendants are fully aware of all of this.  Document 47-2, Johns depo. 141:17-143:6; Plaintiff’s CSMF and Responsive CSMF ¶¶ 32, 33.  Yet they assert this position in their brief.
The numerous requests made by Ms. Brooker and on her behalf that Defendants modify the policies they implemented against her in this case clearly satisfy the requirements for making a reasonable accommodation request under the FHA, ADA and §504.  See Plaintiff’s CSMF and Responsive CSMF ¶¶ 32, 33, 42-45, 48, 49, 53-55 and 111.  Defendants’ argument that “[t]here is no record evidence that Ms. Brooker ever requested a reasonable accommodation” (Document 51, pp. 14-15) doesn’t hold water.

The plain truth is that Defendants simply determined that AHA would not consider altering or modifying its policies with respect to Ms. Brooker because of AHA’s policy not to grant reasonable accommodations to residents or applicants who AHA perceives to be a threat to others.  Document 47-2, Johns depo. 78:22-80:12 and 134:3-140:7.  True to this policy, Defendants never did give consideration to the reasonable accommodation requests that were made.  Id. at 171:1-175-20.
E. There is no genuine dispute that the accommodations requested by Ms. Brooker would not impose undue financial and administrative burdens upon Defendants.

As set out in Plaintiff’s main brief (Document 45, p. 23), the accommodations requested by Ms. Brooker would not impose any undue financial or administrative burdens upon Defendants.  Defendants do not dispute this.  See their brief, Document 51.
F. There is no genuine dispute that the accommodations requested by Ms. Brooker would not impose undue hardship on Defendant in the specific circumstances of its operations.

Defendants in their brief allege that “there are disputed issues of material fact with respect to whether the proposed accommodation would pose an undue burden” on the Authority.  They argue that if a proposed accommodation would result in safety concerns, a possibility of increased risk of liability or if it will not ensure “that the tenant will stop disturbing the quiet enjoyment of all of the tenants in the subject property” then it may not be reasonable, reasoning that this should preclude entry of summary judgment against them on the reasonable accommodation claims.  These arguments put the cart before the horse.
It is Defendants burden to establish that granting a reasonable accommodation would be unreasonable.  Muhammad v. Court of Common Pleas of Allegheny County, Pa., 2012 WL 1681861, *4 (3d Cir. 2012); Lapid–Laurel, L.L.C. v. Zoning Bd. of Adjustment of Twp. of Scotch Plains, 284 F.3d 442, 457 (3d Cir.2002).  

[A] request for a reasonable accommodation may be denied if providing the accommodation is not reasonable – i.e., if it would impose an undue financial and administrative burden on the housing provider or it would fundamentally alter the nature of the provider's operations.
 The determination of undue financial and administrative burden must be made on a case-by-case basis involving various factors, such as the cost of the requested accommodation, the financial resources of the provider, the benefits that the accommodation would provide to the requester, and the availability of alternative accommodations that would effectively meet the requester's disability-related needs. 

When a housing provider refuses a requested accommodation because it is not reasonable, the provider should discuss with the requester whether there is an alternative accommodation that would effectively address the requester's disability-related needs without a fundamental alteration to the provider's operations and without imposing an undue financial and administrative burden. If an alternative accommodation would effectively meet the requester's disability-related needs and is reasonable, the provider must grant it. An interactive process in which the housing provider and the requester discuss the requester's disability-related need for the requested accommodation and possible alternative accommodations is helpful to all concerned because it often results in an effective accommodation for the requester that does not pose an undue financial and administrative burden for the provider. 

HUD/DOJ Joint Statement, Question 7, p. 7, attached hereto as Exhibit 1.  

What happens if no agreement can be reached through the interactive process? 
A failure to reach an agreement on an accommodation request is in effect a decision by the provider not to grant the requested accommodation. If the individual who was denied an accommodation files a Fair Housing Act complaint to challenge that decision, then the agency or court receiving the complaint will review the evidence in light of applicable law and decide if the housing provider violated that law. 

Id., Question 10, p. 9.  See also Douglas v. Kriegsfeld Corp., 884 A.2d at 1123 n. 22.  Accord 24 CFR §§ 9.131(b) and (c); Douglas at 1125-1126 (noting that the “direct threat” provision of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(9) “does not come into play until after the trial court has evaluated the landlord's response to a requested accommodation and has determined, after a factual inquiry, that no reasonable accommodation could ameliorate the situation sufficiently to protect the health, safety, and property of others.”); Roe v. Sugar River Mills Associates, 820 F.Supp. 636, 637 (D.N.H. 1993) (same) and Roe v. Housing Authority, 909 F.Supp. 814, 822 (D.Colo. 1995) (“[The landlord] must demonstrate that no reasonable accommodation will eliminate or acceptably minimize any risk [the tenant] poses to other residents.”).  
Defendants were fully aware of these requirement imposed by the FHA but declined to interact with Ms. Brooker or even give consideration to whether a reasonable accommodation could alleviate the danger AHA perceived as posed by Ms. Brooker’s impairments.  Plaintiff’s CSMF and Responsive CSMF ¶ 33; Document 47-2, Johns depo. 78:22-80:12, 132:11-140:7, 148:22-154:25, 171:1-175:20.  
The other shortcoming of Defendants’ allegations that there are genuine issues of material fact as to whether providing an accommodation in this case was reasonable is that the allegations are not supported by evidence sufficient to survive a Rule 56 motion.  
With respect to these contentions, it is speculative at best whether any of these concerns would ever materialize.  The effects of Ms. Brooker’s impairments that let to her behavior on May 20, 2010 have abated with consistent treatment, and if Defendants had either approved Ms. Brooker’s Voucher application or approved her to reside under the Sill’s lease, both of which were requested, she would have been out of any AHA-owned or managed property and would have resided in a privately-owned single family residence without immediate neighbors.  
With respect to Defendants’ argument regarding safety concerns, they allege that “Ms. Brooker’s actions posed a significant risk to her neighbors and the Authority’s property” because she “taped her windows, barricaded the door to her apartment,
 and ran the gas on her stove until it filled her apartment.”  Document 51, p. 20 (emphasis added); see also Document 52, ¶ 22 (“She subsequently fell asleep with gas coming from unlit gas burners on her stove [emphasis added].”) and Document 5, p. 1 (“On May 20, 2010, Josephine Brooker…tried to blow up the Eleventh Street Towers.”).  This persistent allegation that Ms. Brooker turned on the gas without lighting the burners is wholly unsupported by any evidence in the record.  Plaintiff’s CSMF and Responsive CSMF ¶ 22.  In fact, the allegation is false.  When asked to explain the factual basis of this allegation in her deposition, Defendant Johns testified that the only source of this information was that “[T]he fire department had made a comment to Linda Walter that it could have been an explosion.”  Document 47-2, Johns depo. 136:24-25.  Not only is this hearsay not probative, it is not true.  Linda Walter was not at the scene that day and testified in her deposition that she did not become aware of the incident on May 20, 2010 until approximately four months later, when she read Ms. Brooker’s written request for an informal hearing.  Document 47-4, Walter depo. 62:14-21, 71:24-73:5, 105:18-107:9.  The persistent publication of this plainly false and very prejudicial allegation in public Court documents by Defendants without a basis in fact to support the allegation is unconscionable, and Defendants should be sanctioned.  
Issues of fact are genuine only if “there is sufficient evidence favoring the nonmoving party for a jury to return a verdict for that party.”  Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 249 (1986).  “If the evidence is merely colorable, or is not significantly probative, summary judgment may be granted.”  Id. at 249-250 (internal citation omitted).  
G. There is no genuine dispute that the accommodations requested by Ms. Brooker would not require a fundamental alteration in the essential nature of the benefit, program or service of the Defendant.

As set forth in Plaintiff’s main brief (Document 45, pp. 23-24), it is undisputed that granting a reasonable accommodation to Ms. Brooker would not require a fundamental alteration in the essential nature of the benefits, programs or services administered by AHA.  Director Johns testified in her deposition that she is the person who would make this call when AHA determines whether to grant a request for a reasonable accommodation, and she never made this call in this case.  Document 47-2, Johns depo. 78:17-21 and 155:22 – 157:9.  Defendant’s allegation in their brief to the contrary (Document 51, pp. 21-22) is hogwash.  Not one of the requests for a reasonable accommodation made on behalf of Ms. Brooker asked the Housing Authority to provide medical monitoring for Ms. Brooker.  AHA has pointed to no evidence even colorably suggesting that the agency was requested to provide medical monitoring to Ms. Brooker.  Ms. Brooker, through her counsel and daughter, suggested that she could obtain this sort of assistance, in order to assuage any fear of Defendants that granting an accommodation to her may result in a danger to others.  And she in fact did utilize such assistance, through Altoona Behavioral Health, and it was in fact effective in ameliorating the effects of Ms. Brooker’s impairments, as set forth in Section C of this brief.  But she never asked (or expected) AHA to provide this sort of service for her.  There simply is no genuine issue here to resolve.  
H. Due Process 

In their brief (Document 51), Defendants recite, ver batim, the argument presented in their brief in support of their motion to dismiss (Document 5).  Because Plaintiff fully responded to Defendants’ arguments in her brief in support of her motion for summary judgment (Document 45), Plaintiff will not do so again here, except to note that not only has HUD recommended to PHAs, including AHA specifically, that they have a procedure for notifying tenants of the right to request a reasonable accommodation as part of any lease violation notice. See Public Housing Occupancy Guidebook (June 2003) at 275, available at http://www.hud.gov/offices/pih/programs/ph/rhiip/phguidebook.cfm.  See also HUD/DOJ Joint Statement at pp. 10-11, attached hereto as Exhibit 1.  HUD specifically also has provided AHA with a model notice for ensuring that housing applicants with disabilities are aware of their right to request a reasonable accommodation in the notice provided to them when they are denied housing assistance.  See Exhibit 3, attached hereto.  Defendants know this.  CSMF 33; Document 47-2, Johns depo. 65:12-69:2; Document 47-4, Walter depo. 86:25-87:3.  Such a notice inherently would minimize the likelihood of an erroneous deprivation of applicants’ property interests, and would have done so in this case.  Matthews v. Eldridge.
As fully set forth in her main brief, Document 45, there is no genuine dispute to be tried here.  Defendants have violated Ms. Brooker’s clearly established procedural due process rights, and Ms. Brooker is entitled to judgment on this claim against both the entity and the individuals as a matter of law.      
VI. Punitive Damages

As set forth in Plaintiff’s main brief (and above), Ms. Brooker has established that she entitled to punitive damages against Defendants.  Document 45, pp. 27-28.  Defendants in their responsive brief do not disagree with Plaintiff’s analysis of applicable law.  Document 51.  In their Concise Statement of Facts, Defendants attempt to engender a conclusion that an award against Defendant AHA would be equivalent to an award against the community of Altoona by reducing funds that might otherwise be used to provide housing assistance to residents of the City.  Even if true, this is immaterial to whether an award against AHA is prohibited under the rationale of the Supreme Court in City of Newport v. Fact Concerts, Inc., 453 U.S. 247 (1981).  It is also immaterial whether AHA’s board members happen also to be City officials.  Furthermore, Ms. Johns’ deposition testimony was very detailed and clear that the sources of funds from which an award of punitive damages against AHA would be paid would be non-tax-dollar sources, and her testimony was clear that the uses of these funds, except for those earmarked for staff salaries, are unrestricted, unlike the “reserve funds” referenced ¶ 21 of her Declaration and ¶ 5 of Defendants’ Concise Statement.  See Document 47-2 at the pages cited in Plaintiffs’ CSMF ¶ 5. 
Because Defendants have demonstrated no genuine issues of material fact, as is their burden, and Ms. Brooker is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, this case is one in which an award of punitive damages by summary judgment is appropriate, in an amount the Court determines appropriate under the circumstances of the case.    

VII. Conclusion


For the foregoing reasons, and those set forth in Plaintiff’s main brief, Josephine Brooker respectfully requests that the Court grant her motion for summary judgment.  
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� Upon completion of discovery, it was clear the Linda Holsinger should have been substituted for the Jane Doe defendant referenced in Plaintiff’s Complaint.  By this time it was too late add Ms. Holsinger as a party. 


� Defendants recognize that the Court stated this reasoning only in dicta.  See Document 51, p. 11, n. 4 (“Nebraska’s Supreme Court did not directly address whether the tenant was ‘evicted’ for purposes of 24 CFR 982.552(c)(1)(ii) because it found that the housing authority was entitled to terminate his voucher on the basis of admitted criminal activity.”)


� A complete copy of the HUD/DOJ Joint Statement is included in the Reasonable Accommodation Resource Guide attached hereto as Exhibit 3, which is possessed by each Defendant and with which each Defendant is familiar.  Document 47-2, Johns depo. 65:12-69:2; Document 47-4, Walter depo. 86:25-87:3.  


� The undisputed evidence establishing each of the facts set forth in this and the remaining paragraphs in this section of the brief is cited in paragraph 2 of Plaintiff’s Response to Defendants’ Statement of Facts, which is being filed along with this brief.


� In her Concise Statement, Plaintiff mistakenly stated that the hospitalization lasted for eight days.  CSMF ¶ 31.


� This last sentence and citations to the record were inadvertently omitted from Paragraph 2 of Plaintiffs Response to Defendants Concise Statement and should be incorporated therein.


� Defendants’ argument that Ms. Scheeler’s testimony is too unreliable to support an opinion regarding this nexus because Ms. Brooker’s psychosis “could have been caused by a drug overdose, a drug underdose, a failure of support system, or some other factor” (Document 51, pp. 1, 15-18), is based solely on Defense counsel’s hypothetical deposition questions suggesting these factors.  See Document 47-9, Scheeler depo. 39:5-9, 75:2-7, 77:3-11, 108:18-22.  Ms. Scheeler did not testify that any of these were actual, possible causes of the psychosis experienced by Ms. Brooker in May of 2010, and there is no evidence in the record to support an allegation that any of these hypothetical issue actually existed.  


� HUD and the Department of Justice have not recognized any hardships beyond these that would render a necessary accommodation unreasonable.


� Plaintiff mistakenly averred that Ms. Brooker had pushed her refrigerator in front of her door.  CSMF ¶ 22.  In fact, it was a piece of furniture, a bench.  Document 47-1, Brooker depo. 62:24-63:2, 71:15-17.
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